No. 75108-5-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BULK FR8, LLC,

Respondent,

MATTHEW SCHULER, an individual,
DEREK BROWN, an individual, and
TOTAL CONNECTION LOGISTIC SERVICES, INC.,
a New Jersey Corporation,

VS.

Appellants.

OIG JUL -5 PH

STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

ROCKE LAW GROUP, PLLC Aaron V. Rocke, WSBA No. 31525 Peter Montine, WSBA No. 49815 101 Yesler Way, Suite 603 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 652-8670

Attorneys for Appellants

### **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

In this employment case, Bulk FR8, LLC temporarily enjoined its former employees, Matt Schuler and Derek Brown, from working for their new employer, Total Connection Logistics Services, Inc. The injunction was a two-week temporary restraining order (TRO) obtained *ex parte*. Bulk FR8 also sought a preliminary injunction and damages against Schuler, Brown, and Total Connection (collectively, "Employees"). The trial court denied Bulk FR8's motion for preliminary injunction and its motion for reconsideration.

After being denied reconsideration, Bulk FR8 moved *ex parte* and without notice for return of its security bond, posted in support of its TRO. This bond was meant to be kept until the court determined whether Employees had been wrongfully enjoined. Although the court had not considered the issue of whether Employees had been wrongfully enjoined, it granted Bulk FR8's motion and returned its \$50,000 security.

Bulk FR8 then moved *ex parte* for voluntary dismissal of its case. Once again, the court considered and granted the motion without notice to Employees. After the case was dismissed, Employees moved for an order granting its fees and costs for defending Bulk FR8's complaint, or else vacating Bulk FR8's voluntary dismissal. The trial court denied both these requests based on incorrect application of relevant statutes and civil rules.

During this litigation, a pattern emerged where Bulk FR8 would receive the relief it requested if and only if it moved *ex parte* and without giving notice to Employees. When the case started to go against Bulk FR8, Bulk FR8 dropped its claims and prevented the court from addressing whether Employees had been wrongfully enjoined. The trial court allowed Bulk FR8 to bypass the safeguards of TROs and voluntary dismissals, thereby prejudicing Employees.

Employees ask this Court to reverse the trial court's order denying their motion for attorney's fees and costs incurred defending against Bulk FR8's claims and motions practice. The trial court should have granted Employees' fees and costs under multiple statutory provisions. If the Court does not grant Employees their fee and costs, it should reverse the orders granting voluntarily dismissal and release of bond and allow this matter to continue to trial. Statutes and civil rules prohibited the trial court from granting these motions, and the court must still address whether Employees were wrongfully enjoined by the TRO. If they were, Bulk FR8 should pay them from the security it originally posted.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred in denying Employees' motion for fees and costs. The trial court also erred in granting Bulk FR8's motion for voluntary dismissal. Finally, the trial court erred in granting Bulk FR8's

motion to return the security bond it posted pursuant to its TRO against Employees.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Whether the trial court erred in granting Employees' motion for attorney's fees and costs when (1) Total Connection was entitled to fees and costs as the prevailing party under the Washington long-arm statute, and (2) Employees were entitled to fees and costs by statute as prevailing parties against frivolous claims;
- B. Whether the trial court erred in granting Bulk FR8's motion for voluntary dismissal when Bulk FR8 violated local rules by(1) failing to give notice to Employees and (2) making the motion *ex parte*; and
- C. Whether the trial court erred in granting Bulk FR8's motion for release of its security when the court had not yet addressed whether the TRO wrongfully enjoined Employees, as required by the applicable civil rule.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Schuler and Brown's Employment with Bulk FR8

Bulk FR8, LLC is a bulk liquid freight transportation brokerage firm working in the United States and Canada. (CP 4.) Wayne Levinson is

the president of Bulk FR8. (CP 128.) Matthew Schuler began working for Bulk FR8 in February 2013 and (CP 5) Derek Brown began working for Bulk FR8 in April 2013 (CP 5). Bulk FR8 moved to Seattle around September 2013, and Schuler and Brown moved with it. (CP 83–84, CP 91–92.) When Schuler and Brown first moved to Seattle, they were living in a temporary house with Levinson that doubled as the Bulk FR8 office. *Id*.

#### 1. Schuler and Brown's Noncompete Agreements

One evening after work, Wayne Levinson brought Schuler and Brown to a restaurant (CP 84, 92) along with other Bulk FR8 employees (CP 99, 107). They believed they were going to dinner as friends. (CP 108.) Levinson provided Schuler and Brown with marijuana before the dinner and bought them drinks at dinner. (CP 84, 92, 108.)

During dinner, Levinson unexpectedly handed Schuler and Brown resignation documents and noncompete agreements to sign. (CP 84, 92, 108.) Levinson told Schuler and Brown that they would not have jobs the next day if they did not sign the noncompete agreements. (CP 84, 92, 99, 108.) This sudden demand did not give Schuler or Brown time to review the agreements thoughtfully or seek legal advice. (CP 84–85, 92–93.) Schuler and Brown, fearing for their jobs, signed the noncompete agreements. (CP 24, 28.)

#### 2. Bulk FR8's Suspect Business Practices

Bulk FR8 and Levinson have committed questionable business practices besides improperly inducing Schuler and Brown to sign the noncompete agreements. Levinson bragged in the Bulk FR8 office about how he had stolen trade secrets and customers from the bulk freight companies for which he had previously worked. (CP 86, 93–94, 99, 101–102, 104, 105, 108, 110, 112.) Levinson would hire new employees for Bulk FR8 and fire them once they started to get clients (CP 99.)

Other former Bulk FR8 employees believed Levinson made
Schuler and Brown sign the noncompete agreements to specifically
restrain Schuler and Brown from leaving Bulk FR8. (CP 107, 112.) None
of the other Bulk FR8 employees were asked to sign noncompete
agreements. (CP 99, 101, 104, 107, 109, 112), even though all of the Bulk
FR8 employees had access to the same information as Schuler and Brown
(CP 98–100, 103, 105, 110, 111). The employee who drafted the
noncompete agreement for Levinson informed him that the requested
parameters were likely unenforceable. (CP 107–08.) Bulk FR8 did not do
anything different from any other bulk transport company that would
require trade secret protection. (CP 99, 101, 104, 110, 112.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although the topic was briefed and argued multiple times, Bulk FR8 never actually identified the trade secrets which Schuler and Brown had allegedly misappropriated. To

Levinson would regularly take employees out for dinner and drinks, paid for by Bulk FR8. (CP 112.) Levinson also provided marijuana for Bulk FR8 employees at work. (CP 112.) Levinson mailed marijuana and other restricted substances to an out-of-state coworker. (CP 102, 110.) Levinson did this at work and would either mail these substances himself or have other Bulk FR8 employees mail them. (CP 102.)

#### 3. Leaving Bulk FR8 and Joining Total Connection

Schuler resigned from Bulk FR8 in April of 2014. (CP 7, 87.)
Brown was terminated in July 2015 (CP 10, 94.) When Brown was terminated, Levinson told him that he was being let go because he was not right for the company. (CP 94.) Despite this, Bulk FR8 later averred that Brown was terminated for "performance issues." (CP 10.)

After leaving Bulk FR8, Schuler and Brown were hired by Total Connection Logistics Services, Inc. (CP 78.) Total Connection is a New Jersey Corporation (CP 3–4) that brokers liquid freight, dry and durable goods worldwide (CP 79). Counsel for Bulk FR8 then sent letters to Schuler and Brown alleging that their employment with Total Connection was in violation of their noncompete agreements. (CP 36–37, 48–50.)

the extent Bulk FR8 argues that identifying this information would have destroyed its trade secret protection, Schuler and Brown allegedly already had possession of this information. This evasiveness further strengthens Employees' argument that they were wrongfully enjoined.

#### B. Bulk FR8's Civil Action and Temporary Restraining Order

Not long after sending its cease-and-desist letters, Bulk FR8 sued Schuler, Brown, and Total Connection. (CP 1–3.) Bulk FR8's complaint averred that Schuler and Brown had breached their contracts, misappropriated Bulk FR8's trade secrets, and intentionally interfered with Bulk FR8's business expectancies. (CP 13–16.) Bulk FR8 also averred that Total Connection had intentionally interfered with Bulk FR8's business expectancies. (CP 15–16.)

On the same day it served its summons and complaint, Bulk FR8 moved *ex parte* for a TRO, preliminary injunction, or both. (Dkt. 9.) The court entered a TRO that day, enjoining Schuler and Brown from engaging in the liquid freight logistics business, either on their own, together, or with Total Connection. (CP 59–62.) This order set a hearing date for Bulk FR8's motion for preliminary injunction for December 21, 2015. *Id.* The TRO was conditioned on Bulk FR8 posting security in the amount of \$50,000.00. (CP 61.) Bulk FR8 posted a cash bond with the Superior Court on December 10. (CP 63.)

## 1. Denial of Bulk FR8's Preliminary Injunction and Motion for Reconsideration

Employees filed an opposition to Bulk FR8's motion for preliminary injunction. (CP 64–77.) In it, they argued that Schuler and Brown's noncompete agreements were unsupported by consideration,

unsupported by a legitimate business interest, signed under undue influence, and acquired with unclean hands. (CP 73–76.) Employees also argued that Bulk FR8 did not actually have any trade secrets to protect. (CP 76–77). Employees supported their motion with the declarations of seven former Bulk FR8 employees. (CP 98–113). The TRO expired soon thereafter.

After oral arguments, the court denied Bulk FR8's motion for preliminary injunction. (CP 115.) The court found that substantial issues existed as to the legal enforceability of the noncompete agreements and therefore could not find that Bulk FR8 had demonstrated a clear legal or equitable right as required to obtain a preliminary injunction. *Id.*Furthermore, the court held that Bulk FR8 could still be adequately compensated by an award of damages. *Id.* 

Bulk FR8 quickly moved for reconsideration of the order denying its motion for preliminary injunction. (CP 116–127.) In the alternative, Bulk FR8 asked the court to reform Schuler and Brown's noncompete agreements, if necessary, so that they were enforceable. (CP 117.) As support for its motion, Bulk FR8 relied upon an email allegedly showing that Brown had misappropriated Bulk FR8's alleged trade secrets. (CP 117–18, 131–33.) Employees explained in their opposition that this email was clearly manipulated and could only have been obtained

unethically. (CP 137–41, 159–61, 179–81.) The trial court denied Bulk FR8's motion for reconsideration. (CP 189.)

#### 2. Bulk FR8's Motion for Return of Bond

Bulk FR8 filed a motion *ex parte* requesting that the court release the bond it posted as security for its TRO. (CP 190.) Up until this point, the court had not addressed or decided whether the TRO had wrongfully enjoined Employees. Employees contacted Bulk FR8 and indicated as much to it, asking it to strike its motion. (CP 212.) When Bulk FR8 did not reply, Employees filed a response brief making this same argument. (CP 191–95.)

Although the court had not yet addressed whether Employees had been wrongfully enjoined, it granted Bulk FR8's motion to return its security bond. (CP 231.) *See* Appendix A. The court did not provide any explanation or rationale for its decision to grant the motion. *Id*.

#### C. Last-Minute Cancellation of Levinson's Deposition

On February 2, 2016, Employees served Bulk FR8 with notice of Wayne Levinson's video deposition. (CP 304–06.) The deposition was set for 9:00 AM on March 1, 2016. (CP 304.) Bulk FR8 did not make any initial response to Employees' notice. In order to confirm that service had been made, Employees contacted Bulk FR8 and asked if it was authorized to accept service for Mr. Levinson. (CP 308.) Bulk FR8 responded in the

negative. *Id.* Employees then subpoenaed Mr. Levinson to appear for the deposition. (CP 310–12.)

On February 29, 2016, Bulk FR8 confirmed that Mr. Levinson would be present at his deposition the next day. (CP 314.) Then on May 1, 15 minutes before the deposition was scheduled, Bulk FR8 informed Employees that they were running late. (CP 316.) An hour later, Bulk FR8 informed Employees that they were cancelling the deposition. (CP 320.)

#### D. Bulk FR8's Voluntary Dismissal

On the same day Mr. Levinson was scheduled to be deposed, Bulk FR8 moved *ex parte* for voluntary dismissal of all parties. (CP 232–34.) The *ex parte* department granted an order of voluntary dismissal that same day. *Id.; see* Appendix B. Employees did not receive notice that Bulk FR8 had moved for dismissal until two days later, when they received the signed order of dismissal.

## E. Employees' Motion for Costs, Fees, and Sanctions, or to Vacate the Dismissal

After Employees received Bulk FR8's motion, they moved for relief from the court. (CP 235–43.) First, Employees asked the court to order Bulk FR8 to reimburse them for their attorney's fees and costs incurred in defending against Bulk FR8's claims. (CP 235.) Second, Employees asked that the court impose sanctions on Levinson for failing to appear for his deposition. *Id.* Third, Employees asked that, in the

alternative, the court vacate its order of dismissal. *Id.* Employees argued that, by virtue of Bulk FR8's voluntary nonsuit, Employees or Total Connection were the prevailing parties and therefore entitled to fees and costs. (CP 239.)

The court granted Employees' motion with regard to the imposition of partial sanctions. (CP 338–39.) *See* Appendix C. The court did not, however, award Employees attorney's fees and costs or vacate the order of dismissal. (CP 339.) The court specifically found that Employees were not the prevailing parties and therefore were not entitled to costs or attorney's fees. (CP 338.) The court also found that, although Bulk FR8 failed to give Employees notice of its motion for voluntary dismissal, this lack of notice did not deny Employees any substantial right under the circumstances. *Id*.

#### V. ARGUMENTS

#### A. Employees were entitled to attorney's fees and costs.

Employees ask that the Court reverse the trial court's order and allow them to recover their attorney's fees and costs spent defending this action. As a general rule, where a plaintiff voluntarily dismisses his action, the defendant is entitled to costs. *Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, Inc.*, 81 Wn.2d 863, 865, 505 P.2d 790 (1973). There can be a prevailing party even if a final judgment is not entered. *Id.* at 867.

Washington courts look to specific statutory language in determining whether the defendant to a voluntary nonsuit is entitled to attorney's fees and costs. *See Andersen*, 81 Wn.2d 863 (1973) (defendant to voluntary nonsuit considered the "prevailing party" under Washington long-arm statute, RCW 4.28.185); *Walji v. Candyco, Inc.*, 57 Wn. App. 284, 787 P.2d 946 (1990) (prevailing party under bilateral contractual provision); *Escude ex rel. Escude v. King County Public Hosp. Dist. No. 2*, 117 Wn. App. 183, 69 P.3d 895 (2003) (prevailing party under frivolous claims statute, RCW 4.84.185). The trial court should have granted Employees their attorney's fees and costs.

#### 1. Fees and Costs under the Long-Arm Statute

The trial court first should have granted Employees' motion for fees and costs based on Bulk FR8's use of the Washington long-arm statute. Statutory interpretation is a question of law that the court of appeals reviews *de novo*. *State v. Watson*, 146 Wn.2d 947, 954, 51 P.3d 66 (2002). The trial court incorrectly interpreted this statute by failing to find Total Connection as the prevailing party under the long-arm statute.

Any person, whether or not a citizen or resident of Washington, who in person or through an agent transacts any business within Washington, thereby submits said person to the jurisdiction of the courts of Washington as to any cause of action arising from the transaction of

that business. RCW 4.28.185(1)(a). In the event the defendant is personally served outside the state on causes of action enumerated in this section, and prevails in the action, there may be taxed and allowed to the defendant as part of the costs of defending the action a reasonable amount to be fixed by the court as attorneys' fees. RCW 4.28.185(5).

In Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, Inc., 81 Wn.2d 863, 864–65 (1973), a Washington corporation brought a third-party complaint against an out-of-state corporation. The Washington corporation then moved for voluntary dismissal. The Washington Supreme Court affirmed an award of attorney's fees and costs to the foreign corporation, holding:

We think the general rule pertaining to voluntary nonsuits, that the defendant is regarded as having prevailed, should be applied to cases in which service upon the defendant was obtained under RCW 4.28.185(5). Since that statute was enacted to facilitate service upon out-of-state defendants, the legislature must naturally have had in mind that a defendant who "prevails" is ordinarily one against whom no affirmative judgment is entered. When an action against such a defendant is dismissed, even though that dismissal be upon the motion of the plaintiff, the judgment which is entered shows that the plaintiff failed to prove his claim. We think it was the legislative intent that, at such a point, a defendant who has been served outside this state and has been put to expense in answering the complaint and preparing for trial should be reimbursed by the plaintiff if the court finds that the justice of the case requires it.

*Id.* at 868. The Supreme Court went on to hold that the trial court was authorized by RCW 4.28.185(5) to award attorney's fees and costs to the foreign corporation. *Id.* 

In the present case, Total Connection, a New Jersey corporation, was one of the defendants to Bulk FR8's complaint. Total Connection was harmed by Bulk FR8's TRO. Total Connection had to oppose Bulk FR8's motion for preliminary injunction, motion for rehearing, and motion for disbursement of funds. Total Connection, along with Schuler and Brown, interviewed seven non-party witnesses for their opposition to the preliminary injunction. Employees prepared for Mr. Levinson's deposition, for which he ultimately did not appear. When the trial court granted Bulk FR8's voluntary dismissal, Total Connection became the prevailing party under the long-arm statute. Therefore, Bulk FR8 should be held responsible for the expenses it forced Total Connection to incur.

#### 2. Fees and Costs under the Frivolous Actions Statute

Even if the trial court did not grant Employees' fees and costs under the long-arm statute, it could still grant them based on a finding that Bulk FR8's claims were frivolous. Statutory interpretation is a question of law that the court of appeals reviews *de novo*. *State v. Watson*, 146 Wn.2d 947, 954, 51 P.3d 66 (2002). The trial court also erred in the application of

the statute granting fees and costs to the prevailing party defending against frivolous claims.

In any civil action, the court may, upon findings that the action was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause, require the nonprevailing party to pay the prevailing party the reasonable expenses, including attorney's fees, incurred in opposing the action. RCW 4.84.185. A frivolous action is one that cannot be supported by any rational argument on the law or facts. *Rhinehart v. Seattle Times*, 59 Wn. App 332, 340, 798 P.2d 1155 (1990). A defendant to a frivolous action that is voluntarily dismissed is a prevailing party within the meaning of RCW 4.84.185. *Escude ex rel. Escude v. King County Public Hosp. Dist. No. 2*, 117 Wn. App. 183, 193 (2003).

In *Escude*, the plaintiff originally believed he had an expert to testify in support of his claims. *Id.* at 194. By the time of motions went before the court, however, the declaration and potential testimony of the expert had been expunged for multiple reasons. *Id.* This all but destroyed plaintiff's case. *Id.* Employees offered to allow plaintiff's case be dismissed without fees and costs, but plaintiff decided to press on. *Id.* The plaintiff later moved to voluntarily dismiss its claims with prejudice, which the trial court granted. *Id.* at 187–90. The trial court also found that

the plaintiff's claims were frivolous and granted defendants their fees and costs. *Id.* The court of appeals affirmed the trial court's holding. *Id.* at 195.

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