No. 75108-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BULK FR8, LLC

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW SCHULER, an individual,

DEREK BROWN, an individual,

TOTAL CONNECTION LOGISTIC SERVICES, INC., A New Jersey Corporation,

Appellants.

APPEAL from the Superior Court of King County

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Dubs A.T. Herschlip, WSBA # 31652 Dubs Ari Tanner Herschlip, PLLC 627-5th St, Ste 203 Mukilteo, WA 98275 425-903-3505 Attorney for Respondent, Bulk FR8, LLC

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

conclusion of his opening case during trial. *Id.* Furthermore, in Washington, the filing of an answer did not cut off the league's right to voluntary dismissal. *Id.* Also, the preliminary injunction hearing was not a trial in the sense marking the termination of the right to obtain a mandatory nonsuit under Rule 41(a)(1)(B). *Id.*

Appellants rely on *Escude v. King County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 2* 117 Wn. App. 183, 69 P.3d 895, but *Escude* was distinguishable from the case at hand based on the procedural posture where the *Escude* court affirmed the dismissal of claims with prejudice on a motion for dismissal without prejudice, and held that the plaintiff was not entitled to a "dismissal without prejudice" as a matter of right, as opposed to the dismissal with prejudice granted by the trial court. *Escude*, 117 Wn. App. at 187, 69 P.3d at 897.

3. No Prior Written Notice of Nonsuit Required

Here, it would have been reversible error for the trial court to deny Respondent's voluntary dismissal despite the lack of prior written notice noted by the court. (CP 338) *See Greenlaw v. Renn*, 64 Wn. App. 499, 503-504, 824 P.2d 1263, 1266, (Div. 2, 1992). Washington's Division Two Court of Appeals held that:

Although CR 41 does not speak to notice, the fact that the motion can be made at any time before the Respondent rests his or her case, and then must be granted by the court,

indicates that prior written notice of the motion is not required. Indeed, motions for voluntary nonsuit are often made orally at trial, without substantial notice. If the trial court relied on lack of notice as a reason for refusing to grant Greenlaw's motion, it erred.

Greenlaw, 64 Wn. App. at 503-504, 824 P.2d at 1266

Appellants cite *McKay* in support of their argument that Plaintiff should have given notice of its motion to dismiss because the "Employees were still awaiting a determination of whether they had been wrongfully enjoined." App. Br. 18. However, *McKay* is distinguishable as its holding was limited to divorce cases. *See McKay v. McKay*, 47 Wn.2d 301, 287 P.2d 330 (1955). Even if it were applicable, *McKay* does not support Appellants' argument as *McKay* reaches the same result as the trial court in this matter, where the dismissal was affirmed despite more extreme facts where the wife was attempting her second dismissal, was under a contempt of court order, and the husband had filed an answer. *Id.*, 47 Wn.2d at 304, 287 P.2d at 332. In *McKay*, the Washington Supreme Court affirmed the dismissal without notice based on a finding that the husband was "not denied any substantial right" as he could bring any of his claims in a separate action. *Id.*, 47 Wn.2d at 306, 287 P.2d at 333.

Here, the trial court found that "the voluntary nonsuit defendants were not denied any substantial right under the circumstances." (CP 338)

Thus, Appellants' appeal of the dismissal and the denial of the

motion to vacate the dismissal are without basis. Appellants alleged that the court knew they were waiting for a "determination of whether they had been wrongfully enjoined" (App. Br. 18), but their requests for attorney fees and motion to vacate the dismissal were heard by the trial court, and were denied. (CP 338-339) They may be arguing that the court should also have entertained a counterclaim of Appellants that was not pleaded until after the dismissal of the case. (App. Br. 18) It is undisputed that Appellants failed to plead any counterclaim which they could have "pleaded" by solely filing and serving an answer or a counterclaim prior to Respondents' motion to dismiss.

Appellants must serve and file their claims. Farmers Ins. Exch., 121 Wn. App. 97, 87 P.3d 669. "Pleaded" in CR 41(a)(3) as it relates to a counterclaim means "served and filed." Farmers Ins. Exch., 121 Wn. App. at 106, 87 P.3d at 774. Farmers Ins. Exch., involved a case where the plaintiff's voluntary nonsuit was not served until after the defendants filed their counterclaim, the voluntary dismissal was upheld. Id. The Farmers Ins. Exch. Court explained that:

...filing a counterclaim with the court serves another important notice function--advising the court that a counterclaim is at issue. This serves to avoid wasting scarce judicial resources by ensuring that the court is apprised that a party wishes to proceed with a counterclaim and permits the court to focus on the question of whether that counterclaim should be dismissed or allowed to remain for

independent adjudication." *Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 121 Wn. App. at 104-05, 87 P.3d at 773.

In Farmers Ins. Exch. The Court explained that this construction of the rule is consistent with the underlying purpose of construing the rules, "to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action." *Id.*

Appellants may be arguing that they were prejudiced by the dismissal. However, in response to Appellants' motion for attorney fees and costs, and for vacating the order of dismissal, the trial court found no prejudice to Appellants. (CP 338) The mere prospect of a second lawsuit does not constitute the type of prejudice with which the rule is concerned. *Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 121 Wn. App. at 106, 87 P.3d at 773. Appellants make no claim of expiring or expired statute of limitations preventing them from bringing a second lawsuit. Neither party appears to have expended an inordinate amount of time or resources, or effort in the course of this shortlived action. Without articulating some prejudice suffered by Appellants, they provide no basis for their appeal.

4. Nonsuit Was Proper In Ex Parte

Appellants cite LCR 40.1 as another basis for their appeal. KCSC LCR 40.1(a) states:

(1) Ex Parte and Probate Department Presentation of

Motions and Hearings Manual. The Ex Parte and Probate Department and probate Presentation of Motions and Hearings Manual ("Motions and Hearings Manual") is issued by the Clerk and shall contain a list of all matters that shall be presented to the Ex Parte and Probate Department and specifically indicate which matters shall be heard in person and which shall be submitted in writing, without oral argument, through the Clerk's office. The Motions and Hearings Manual shall contain specific procedural information on how to present matters through the Clerk's office. The Motions and Hearings Manual shall be made available online at www.kingcounty.gov/courts/clerk and in paper form through the Clerk's office and the Ex Parte and Probate Department.

Nothing therein describes notice requirements for a voluntary dismissal, nor prohibit a voluntary dismissal from being brought ex parte. Appellants cite no other authority in support of their position. Instead, Appellants repeat their argument that they were entitled to prior written notice without citing to legal authority. (App. Br. 18-19) Appellants argue that: "...only the following matters may be presented to the Ex Parte and Probate Department for King County Superior Court: orders that do not require notice to any other party..." [Emphasis added] (App. Br. 18-19) (quoting LCR 40.1(3)(A)-(D)). However, Appellants ignore the express language of LCR 40.1, as well as the many statutes, rules and cases (supra) that clearly establish Respondent's motion for voluntary dismissal did not require prior written notice to any other party, and then illogically argue that Respondent's motion was not properly in ex parte because Respondent's

motion "does not fit into any of these categories." (App. Br. 19) The dismissal was properly granted without prior notice in *ex parte*. *See Greenlaw*, 64 Wn. App. 499, 824 P.2d 1263: *and see LCR 40.1*.

The trial court's denial of Appellants' motion to vacate dismissal was proper. (CP 339)

B. No Attorney Fees Awarded for Injunction or Nonsuit

Appellants' appeal the trial court's express finding that, "The court does not find that Appellants were the prevailing party and are therefore not entitled to payment of costs and attorney's fees by Respondent," (CP 338) and argue that they were entitled to attorney fees as the prevailing party for the voluntary nonsuit, under Washington's long-arm statute RCW 4.28.185, under the contract and under the frivolous claims statute, RCW 4.84.185. (App. Br. 12). The trial court considered Appellants' opposition to Respondent's motion for releasing the bond (CP 231) as well.

1. Standard of Review

After the voluntary dismissal of an action under CR 41(a), a trial court retains jurisdiction to consider the defendant's motion for expenses if the motion is made pursuant to a statute or a contractual provision. *See Escude*, 117 Wn.App. at 192, 69 P.3d at 899. Whether or not to award the expenses following a voluntary nonsuit is within the discretion of the trial court, in light of the facts and circumstances of the entire case. *Hawk v.*

Branjes, 97 Wn. App. 776, 782-83, 986 P.2d 841 (Div. 1, 1999). The same standard is used when reviewing sanctions imposed under CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185. Hawk, 97 Wn. App. at 783-84, 986 P.2d 841 (quoting Walji v. Candyco, Inc., 57 Wn. App. 284, 290, 787 P.2d 946 (Div. 1, 1990)). With respect to each of these bases of the award, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. Loc Thien Truong v. Allstate Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., 151 Wn. App. 195, 207-208, 211 P.3d 430, 436 (Div. 1, 2009)(citing Skimming v. Boxer, 119 Wn. App. 748, 82 P.3d 707 (Div. 3, 2004)).

In general, a prevailing party is one who receives an affirmative judgment in his or her favor. *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 633, 934 P.2d 669 (1997). If neither party wholly prevails, then the determination of who is a prevailing party depends upon who is the substantially prevailing party. *Id.* 131 Wn.2d at 633-34. This question depends upon the extent of the relief afforded the parties. *Id.* Whether a party is a prevailing party is a mixed question of law and fact that this court reviews under an error of law standard. *Cornish Coll. of the Arts v. 1000 Va. Ltd. P'ship*, 158 Wn. App. 203, 231, 242 P.3d 1 (Div. 1, 2010).

2. Voluntary Nonsuit

Appellants argue they are entitled to attorney fees because Respondent voluntarily dismissed his action. (App. Br. 11) Appellants cite several authorities that do not support their argument. *Andersen v. Gold*

Seal Vineyards, Inc., is distinguishable because opposing party filed responsive pleadings. *Id.*, 81 Wn.2d 863, 865, 505 P.2d 790, 792 (1973). Further, the defendants in *Anderson* indemnity actions expended funds in preparation for trial, and put to further expense of the trial itself for several days before the motion was made to dismiss. *Id.*, 81 Wn. 2d at 868, 505 P2d at 294. Here, Appellants filed no answer or motion for summary judgment.

Prevailing party status turns on whether there has been a "material alteration of the legal relationship of the parties," *Buckhannon Bd. & Care Home, Inc. v. W. Va. Dep't of Health & Human Res.*, 532 U.S. 598, 604, 121 S. Ct. 1835, 149 L. Ed. 2d 855 (2001).

The Ninth Circuit has held dismissal without prejudice does not alter the legal relationship of parties for the purposes of entitlement to attorney's fees under a comparable fee shifting statute. *See Oscar v. Alaska Dep't of Educ. & Early Dev.*, 541 F.3d 978, 981 (9th Cir. 2008); *also see Cadkin v. Loose*, 569 F.3d 1142, 1144-1145, (9th Cir., 2009).

A dismissal without prejudice is not representative of adjudication on the merits. CR 41(a)(4). CR 41 does not require an allegation by the moving party of the reason or basis for voluntary dismissal. Id. The trial court denied Appellants' motion for attorney's fees based on the dismissal with a finding that "The court does not find that Appellants were the prevailing party in this action and are therefore not entitled to payment of costs and attorney's

fees by Respondent." (CP 338) Thus, there is no basis for the court to infer that, as a result of such dismissal, Appellants had prevailed on its defenses set forth in RCW 4.84.185. Hence, there was no basis to subsequently award fees and statutory damages pursuant to that statute.

3. RCW 4.28.185

RCW 4.28.185 authorizes an award of attorney fees when a foreign defendant, sued under the long-arm statute, obtains a dismissal for want of personal jurisdiction. *Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks*, 114 Wn.2d 109, 124, 786 P.2d 265, 274 (1990). An award of attorneys' fees under RCW 4.28.185(5) is discretionary. *Silvaris Corp. v. Brissa Lumber Corp.*, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 52810, *3, 2008 WL 2697186 (W.D. Wash. July 1, 2008). Here, Appellants did not challenge personal jurisdiction, and the long-arm statute does not apply because Total Connection incurred no involuntary expenses.

Under RCW 4.28.185(5), the Court previously concluded that this provision was inapplicable where Defendants did not challenge personal jurisdiction. *Scott Fetzer Co.*, 114 Wn.2d 109, 786 P.2d 265. Defendants cite no case law that supports their argument that fees are warranted in a situation such as this one, where the defendants have not successfully challenged personal jurisdiction or succeeded on the merits, and defendants offered no legitimate basis for dismissal with prejudice.

Similarly, in CTVC of Haw., Co. v. Shinawatra, the Washington

Court of Appeals held that "[t]he trial court may award reasonable attorney fees to a foreign defendant who prevails in an action on the basis that the court lacked personal jurisdiction under the long-arm statute." 82 Wn. App. 699, 722, 919 P.2d 1243 (1996). Neither of these cases applies.

Here, Total Connection did not defend against the jurisdiction of Washington. Instead, Total Connection rushed forward to fund the defense of Respondent's former employees. Total Connection chose to aggressively litigate against its competitor, but did not participate in the form of, answering the complaint or being subjected to discovery. The TRO was not even against Total Connection. (CP 61) Appellant's brief is misleading in its attempt to group the Appellants together as "employees" (App. Br. 1) including Total Connection Logistic Services, Inc., though it was not restrained. (CP 61) Further, Appellants were not awarded significant relief to be deemed a prevailing party. (CP 338-9) Without being required to participate, it is hard to justify Respondent paying Total Connection's inflated legal bill. (CP 331) Such inflation is reflected by Appellants promise to cancel the video deposition per Respondent's objection (CP 317), but still charged the cost to Respondent. (CP 331)

Simply because one party is not afforded as much relief as is originally sought, does not mean that the opposing party has obtained relief. *Silverdale Hotel Assocs. v. Lomas & Nettleton Co.*, 36 Wn. App. 762, 774,

677 P.2d 773 (Div. 2, 1984). Here, simply because Respondent lost its motion for injunctive relief does not mean that Appellants were the prevailing party.

4. The Contract

A party that never intended to form a contract with an opponent may not avail itself of a provision from the proposed agreement that it rejected in order to capitalize on the reciprocal fee shifting provision authorized by RCW 4.84.330. *Pub. Util. Dist. No. 2 of Pacific County v. Comcast of Wash. IV, Inc.*, 184 Wn. App. 24, 34, 336 P.3d 65, 70 (Div. 1, 2014). Here, the Appellants argued against enforceability of the contract based on lack of capacity and that they never intended to form the non-disclosure/non-compete agreements, but were coerced into signing in the underlying lawsuit, and should not be able to claim attorney fees under the same unenforceable contract.

The trial court denied the Respondent's motion for a preliminary injunction finding that the non-compete/non-disclosure agreement may not be enforceable. (CP 115) The trial provided, in part: "The court finds that substantial issues exist as to the legal enforceability of the 'noncompete/nondisclosure' agreement..." *Id.* At that time, the trial court did not award attorney fees to Appellants. The Appellants who argued against enforceability in the underlying lawsuit (CP 85, 93) cannot claim

attorney's fees under the same alleged unenforceable contract. (CP 241)

After the dismissal, Appellants brought a motion for attorney fees and costs, which was also denied based on a finding that they were not the prevailing parties.

5. RCW 4.84.185

Appellants raise the claim of this being a frivolous lawsuit for the first time on appeal. Unless the action as a whole was frivolous, then Appellants were not entitled to an attorney fee award in the trial court under RCW 4.84.185 or in the Court of Appeals under RAP 18.9(a). *Biggs v. Vail*, 119 Wn.2d 129, 131, 830 P.2d 350, 351 (1992). An award of fees under RCW 4.84.185 may be made against a party when the action, viewed in its entirety, cannot be supported by any rational argument on the law or facts. *Loc Thien Truong*, 151 Wn. App. at 207-208, 211 P.3d at 436.

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